047 LEI SID J. WHITE MAY 28 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 81,805

EUGENE REDDEN, JR.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

Preliminary Statement

Petitioner, the State of Florida, appellant in the case below and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Respondent, EUGENE REDDEN, JR., appellee in the case below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to in this brief as respondent. References to the opinion of the Second District contained in the attached appendix will be noted by the symbol "A," and references to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R." All references will be followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s) in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state seeks review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in which that court followed its <u>State v. Thomas, et al.</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067 (Fla. 2d DCA Apr. 21, 1993),¹ decision which declared Fla. Stat. § 893.13(1)(i) (Supp. 1990)'s phrase "public housing facility" to be "unconstitutionally vague because it is so imprecise as to invite arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement." <u>Id.</u> <u>See Redden v. State</u>, Case No. 91-3435 (Fla. 2d DCA May 14, 1993).

The state charged respondent with two counts of the sale of cocaine within 200 feet of a public housing facility, three counts of possession of cocaine, one count of possession of paraphernalia, and one count of trafficking in cocaine (R 1-4). Respondent pled nolo contendere to the adjudicated him quilty, charges; the trial court and sentenced him to concurrent terms of eight years in prison on counts one and two, five years in prison on counts three and four, five years in prison on count five, eight years in prison on count eight, and fined respondent \$52,500.00 on the first count (R 18-41). Respondent made no motion to dismiss the first two counts relating to sale within 200 feet of a public housing facility. Further, the state did

 $[\]frac{1}{1}$ Thomas is pending before this Court in case number 81,724.

not stipulate that any issue concerning the constitutionality of section 893.13(1)(i) was dispositive, and respondent failed to reserve his right to appeal any issue concerning the constitutionality of the statute.

Respondent appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal, arguing that: (1) section 893.13(1)(i) was facially unconstitutional, such that his plea with no reservation of his right to appeal the constitutionality of the statute did not preclude him from addressing it on appeal; (2) section 893.13(1)(i) was void for vagueness; (3)section 893.13(1)(i) violated equal protection principles; and (4) section 893.13(1)(i) violated Florida's police power. The Second District per curiam reversed based on Thomas.

In <u>Thomas</u>, the Second District ruled only on the vagueness claim, recognizing its conflict with <u>Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992),² but found <u>Brown</u> "neither helpful nor persuasive." 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067. Instead, the Second District reasoned:

² Brown is pending before this Court in case number 81,189. On May 24, 1993, this court accepted jurisdiction of Brown and set it for oral argument on November 1, 1993. Other similar pending cases are: Bailey, et al. v. State, Case No. 81,621 (pending jurisdictional determination); Turner v. jurisdictional State, 81,519 Case No. (pending determination); State v. Kirkland, Case No. 81,725 (appeal of right).

While each of the three words of the phrase can be independently and easily defined, when used together in the statute, they present a veritable quagmire for any attempt at uniform enforcement.

We used several approaches as we analyzed the alleged vagueness of this statute. We first considered whether we precise articulate jury could a instruction that would adequately advise a jury how to apply the statute in any particular set of circumstances. We also unable to do **SO**. We were considered whether we could advise law enforcement officers in the field as to a precise standard to apply in enforcing We were unable to do so. the statute. We then considered at great length the myriad circumstances under which the statutory prohibition might be applicable. Although we could provide a long list of such circumstances, we set forth here only a few of the possibility that raised sufficient doubt in our minds to require us to conclude that the statute is unconstitutionally vague.

In regard to the "public" aspect of the "public housing facility" provision, of definitively we have no way ascertaining whether the legislature intended the phrase to apply topublicly-owned housing to the exclusion of privately-owned housing; to housing available for occupancy by the "public" in general or for low income occupants only; to housing that is government financed or built; or to housing that is privately-owned but leased to а government agency for availability t.opublic welfare recipients. We simply have no idea as to the limitations that might be or should be applied to the "public" aspect of a "public housing facility."

The same problem exists in trying to correctly determine the parameters of the term "housing." Does that term apply to rental units only? Does it refer to multifamily housing only or also to single family units? Does it apply to dormitory and congregate living facilities? Are military housing and facilities included? Are religious or charitable owned and operated facilities available for occupancy or "shelter use" by the public included? The possibilities extend ad infinitum.

Finally, the term "facility" is open to so many possible interpretations as to be bewildering. Are the corporate offices of a "public housing facility" included? Are government offices that operate low income housing included? Are sewage, water and utility facilities included?

In our opinion the possibilities for a misapplication of the term "public housing facility" are too numerous to allow that provision to section 893.13(1)(i) to withstand constitutional scrutiny. Our decision does not affect the validity of other portions of that statute.

18 Fla. L. Weekly D1067-68.

The state moved to stay issuance of mandate; this motion is still pending. The state timely filed its notice of appeal to this Court pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), and this brief on the merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal erred as a matter of law in applying overbreadth principles to a vagueness claim. Such a blending of doctrines is unwarranted by case law and results in bad precedent. Applying a proper vagueness analysis, respondent obviously had notice that his behavior was proscribed, and because respondent's conduct fell clearly within the purview of the statute, the statute was not selectively enforced against him.

ARGUMENT

Issue

WHETHER FLA. STAT. § 893.13(1)(1) (SUPP. 1990) CONSTITUTIONALLY PROVIDES NOTICE OF THE CONDUCT PROHIBITED THEREUNDER AND IS ENFORCED IN A NONDISCRIMINATORY FASHION.

This Court is well aware of the strong presumption in favor of the constitutionality of statutes. It is firmly established that all doubt will be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of a statute, and that an act will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Kinner</u>, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1369 (Fla. 1981). Despite this presumption, the Second District Court of Appeal declared Fla. Stat. § 893.13(1)(i) (Supp. 1990) unconstitutional based on the alleged vagueness of the phrase "public housing facility."³ That court determined that, because the statute contained no standards as to the application of the phrase, the statute could be applied too arbitrarily. The Second District was

- 7 -

³ In Thomas, and thus in all cases relying on Thomas, the Second District addressed only the vagueness challenge. Accordingly, in its appeals from these Second District decisions, the state has addressed only that claim. Particularly in this case, this Court should limit itself to that challenge alone. Under Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d (Fla. 1983), respondent may challenge on appeal, 1126 despite his failure toargue below, thefacial constitutionality of the statute at issue, which involves only two types of claims -- overbreadth and vagueness. See id. at 1129-30. As shown supra in text, overbreadth is unavailable to respondent. Thus, the vagueness claim is the only viable claim for respondent on appeal.

incorrect as a matter of law, as it applied an erroneous analysis to the issue at hand.

A vague statute is one which fails to give adequate notice of what conduct is prohibited <u>and</u> which, because of its imprecision, may also invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. <u>Southeastern Fisheries Ass'n v.</u> <u>Dep't of Natural Resources</u>, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984). Recently, this Court spoke to the notice requirement of this doctrine:

> statute which does not give Α people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct is vague. Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 . . . (1972); State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1977); Franklin v. State, 257 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1971). The language of a statute must "provide a definite warning of conduct" what js required or prohibited, "measured by common understanding and practice." State v. Bussey, 463 So. 2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1985). To this end, a statute must be written "in language which is relevant to today's society." Franklin, 257 So. 2d at 23.

<u>Warren v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991). Here, there can be no serious contention that a person of common intelligence would clearly glean from the statute⁴ an

Except as authorized by this chapter, it is unlawful for any person to sell,

⁴ Section 893.13(1)(i), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990), provides:

outright prohibition against activities involving illegal drugs near public housing facilities.

When a statute does not specifically define a given word or phrase, the words should be afforded their plain ordinary meaning. <u>Southeastern Fisheries</u>, 453 So. 2d at 1353. Public, as opposed to private, housing in this case connotes "official" housing, provided by local, state, or federal government, i.e., not private apartment housing. Black's Law Dictionary 624, 642 (5th ed. 1983). <u>See also</u> Webster's Third New International Dictionary, <u>Public Housing</u> at 1836 (1981 ed.) ("low-rent housing owned, sponsored, or administered by a government").⁵

Respondent expended many pages in his brief below to explore the various meanings of each word contained within

> purchase, manufacture, or deliver, or to possess with the intent to sell, purchase, manufacture, or deliver, a controlled substance in, on, or within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public housing facility, within 200 feet of the real property comprising a public or private college, university, or other postsecondary educational institution, or within 200 feet of any public park.

"Although the critical words are not statutorily defined, they can be readily understood by reference to commonly accepted dictionary definitions." <u>Powell v. State</u>, 508 So. 2d 1307, 1310 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). <u>See Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc.</u>, 455 U.S. 489, 501 & 503 n.20 (1982) (using two dictionaries for definitions).

- 9 -

the phrase "public housing facility." Such an effort was futile, when the focus is on the meaning of the phrase, not the individual words. See Deal v. United States, 7 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S283, S284 & S285 (U.S. May 17, 1993) ("[T]he meaning of a word cannot be determined in isolation, but must be drawn from the context in which it is used"; "petitioner's contention displays once again the regrettable penchant for construing words in isolation."); Brown v. State, 610 So. 2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (respondent "ignores the fact that the phrase itself has a meaning more narrow than that gleaned from the definitions of its Moreover, within the "trade" component words."). of narcotics sales, "public housing facility" has a special See Southeastern Fisheries, 453 So. 2d at 1353. meaning. See also 42 U.S.C. § 11901 (1991) (Congress made the following findings: "(1) the Federal Government has a duty to provide public and other federally assisted low-income housing that is decent, safe, and free from illegal drugs; (2) public and other federally assisted low-income housing in many areas suffers from rampant drug-related crime; (3) drug dealers are increasingly imposing a reign of terror on public and other federally assisted low-income housing tenants; (4) the increase in drug-related crime not only leads to murders, muggings, and other forms of violence against tenants, but also to a deterioration of the physical environment substantial government that requires

expenditures; and (5) local law enforcement authorities often lack the resources to deal with the drug problem in public and other federally assisted low-income housing, particularly in light of the recent reductions in Federal aid to cities.").⁶

In view of the specific aim of section 893.13(1)(i) and the targeted meaning of the phrase "public housing facility,"

> it is obviously unrealistic to require that criminal statutes define offenses with extreme particularity. For one thing, there are inherent limitations in the use of language; few words possess the precision of mathematical symbols. Secondly, legislators cannot foresee all of the variations of fact situations which may arise under a statute. While some ambiguous statutes are the result of poor draftsmanship, it is apparent that in many instances the uncertainty is merely attributable to a desire not nullify the of to purpose the legislation by the use of specific items which would afford loopholes through which many could escape.

W. R. LaFave & A. W. Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, <u>Void-for-Vagueness Doctrine</u> § 2.3, at 127-28 (1986). <u>See also</u> <u>Southeastern Fisheries</u>, 453 So. 2d at 1353 ("[C]ourts cannot require the legislature to draft laws with such specificity

⁶ Due to the similarities between the federal drug statutes, i.e., 21 U.S.C. § 860, and the one at issue here, this court should view the federal statutes as persuasive authority. <u>State v. Hermann</u>, 164 Wis.2d 269, _____, 474 N.W.2d 906, 909 n.3 (Ct. App. 1991).

that the intent and purpose of the law may be easily avoided.").

In the present case, the phrase "public housing facility" is clear enough to place a person of common intelligence on notice of the proscribed behavior. See at 1358 ("[A] person of ordinary Brown, 610 So. 2d intelligence should know what was intended by the phrase."); Williams v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1220, D1221 (Fla. 3d DCA May 11, 1993) ("The term 'public housing,' in common parlance, is understood to encompass affordable, government subsidized housing for individuals or families with varied needs"; "The statute under review in this case provides sufficient guidance to drug dealers to allow them to avoid the enhanced penalty imposed by the legislature."). More qualification of the phrase obviously could have led to preposterous avoidance claims that the statute would not apply because "x" housing did not fit a specific statutory definition. Given the laudable purpose of the statute, i.e., to rid public housing facilities of the scourge of drugs, the statute as it is sufficiently specific to be constitutional.

Regarding the second requirement of the vagueness doctrine -- non-selective enforcement -- it is well established that "[o]ne to whose conduct a statute clearly applies may not successfully challenge it for vagueness."

- 12 -

Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733, 756 (1974). Thus, a criminal statute is not unconstitutionally vague on its face unless it is "impermissibly vague in all of its applications." Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 497 (1982) (emphasis supplied). Because respondent made no claim that his conduct was not covered by 893.13(1)(i), his contention that the section statute covered too many possibilities should not have been considered by either the trial court or Second District.

Respondent's brief to the Second District shows that he has confused the doctrines of vagueness and overbreadth. Respondent discussed at great length all the possible applications of the phrase "public housing facility," a inappropriate tack which the Second District adopted in its opinion. However, such an attack on the statute is permissible only in an overbreadth claim, which does not lie absent a facial challenge that the provision proscribes constitutionally protected speech or activities.⁷ "The First Amendment doctrine of substantial overbreadth is an exception to the general rule that a person to whom a statute may be constitutionally applied cannot challenge the

⁷ Respondent understandably made no First Amendment challenge below. <u>See State v. Burch</u>, 545 So. 2d 279, 281 (4th DCA 1989) (the defendants "'did not and could not reasonably contend that [their] conduct in . . [selling] cocaine within one thousand feet of a school was protected by the first amendment.'") (citation omitted), <u>approved</u>, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990).

statute on the ground that it may be unconstitutionally applied to others." Massachusetts v. Oakes, 491 U.S. 576, 581 (1989). With vagueness challenges, however, "[f]undamental constitutional principles dictate that one may not challenge those portions of an enactment which do not adversely affect his personal or property rights." Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So. 2d 3, 4 (Fla. 1979). See also Parker, 417 U.S. at 756 (the vagueness doctrine does not permit the challenger of a statute to confuse vagueness and overbreadth by attacking the enactment as being vague as applied to conduct other than his own).

> Such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy is necessary in order "to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens \mathtt{the} presentation of issues upon which the court so largely depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions[.] Ιf we failed to abide by this limitation our Court would be relegated to being a "roving [commission] assigned to pass judgment on the validity of the [state's] laws."

> > * * *

[A]ppellees have presented us with an array of acts which, although arguably might well intended, be deemed punishable under [the statute]. We are constrained by fundamental principles of appellate review to decline appellees' invitation to decide whether these hypothetical acts would fall within the proscriptions of [the statute]. The fact that the general conduct to which [the statute] is directed is plainly within its terms is a sufficient basis for our finding that this provision is

not unconstitutionally vague. That marginal cases might exist where doubts may arise as to whether there may be prosecution under [the statute] does not render the enactment unconstitutionally vague.

Sandstrom, 370 So. 2d at 4, 6 (citations omitted).

In its Thomas decision, the Second District carried on at length about "the possibility for a misapplication" of the "public housing facility" phrase. In declaring section 893.13(1)(i) void for vagueness, however, that court utilized a wholly improper analysis. The focus of the void for vagueness doctrine is not whether "it is unclear in some of its applications to the condition of [a given defendant] and of some other hypothetical parties." Hoffman, 455 U.S. at 495 (emphasis in original). "To succeed [with a vagueness claim], the complainant must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications." Id. at 497.

In a similar vein, Justice White observed:

If there is a range of conduct that clearly within the reach of the is statute, law enforcement personnel, as well as putative arrestees, are clearly on notice that arrests for such conduct are authorized by the law. There would be nothing arbitrary or discretionary If the officer about such arrests. arrests for an act that both he and the lawbreaker know is clearly barred by the statute, it seems . . . an untenable judicial review exercise \mathbf{of} to

invalidate a state conviction because in some other circumstances the officer may arbitrarily misapply the statute. That the law might not give sufficient guidance to arresting officers with respect to other conduct should be dealt with in those situations. It is no basis for fashioning a further brand of "overbreadth" and invalidating the statute on its face, thus forbidding its application to identifiable conduct that it within the State's power to sanction.

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