| 017 | FILET SID J. WHITE |) |
|-----|-----------------------|---|
| 1/ | | |

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellant, : vs. : EUGENE REDDEN, JR., : Appellee. : JUN 24 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 81,805

Ц

MANDATORY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF APPELLEE

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEPHEN KROSSCHELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 351199

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

 $\mathbb{K}^{\mathbf{v}}$

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

As defense counsel in Polk County persuasively argued, extending "public" to mean "publicly subsidized" makes the vagueness problems insurmountable. For example, the United States Congress has authorized the Coast Guard "to lease <u>housing facilities</u> at or near Coast Guard installations, wherever located, for assignment as <u>public</u> quarters to military personnel." 14 U.S.C. § 475 (1991) (emphasis added). This statute later refers to these privatelyowned leased quarters as "public housing facilities" which could be leased on an "individual or multiple-unit basis." Thus, if the

statute's scope includes government-subsidized facilities, then it would include leased single-unit homes for Coast Guard personnel in cities near Coast Guard stations. No person of reasonable intelligence could be expected to know this.

Defense counsel argued that the federal government subsidizes numerous other facilities through different programs and with varying income restrictions. For example, the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) administers the "Section 8" program which provides rent assistance to private landlords for tenants living in their developments. (T8) This program subsidizes all of the units in some developments, while other developments have only a few individual units subsidized. (T8) Some tenants can also get a Section 8 certificate, which they can use to help rent any approved private apartment or house. (T9) They might rent one-half of a privately owned duplex in part with public money while the other half might be rented entirely privately. (T9) HUD has subsidized mortgage programs which allow developers to take a low interest loan for constructing housing projects. (T9-10) These programs typically require that low-income tenants live there. (T10) Farmer's Home programs provide subsidized mortgages or rent payments for low-income housing for farm workers. (T10 - 11)Numerous other federally-funded mortgage programs -- FHA, Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae, Freddie Mac -- also help people buy houses. (T11)

In addition to the federally-funded programs, Florida has numerous state-funded housing programs which provide varying levels of public support for private housing facilities. The legislature

has found that first-time home buyers and elderly persons have a special need for government programs that will stimulate private housing activity. § 420.0002, Fla. Stat. (1991). State, regional, and local governments must emphasize partnerships with the private sector to provide affordable and decent housing. § 420.0003(1), Fla. Stat. (1991); § 420.0003(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991). State and local governments should provide incentives to encourage the private sector, and state funds should be heavily leveraged to provide a maximum private commitment. § 420.0003(3)(e), Fla. Stat. (1991). Mixed income projects should be encouraged, to avoid a concentration of low-income persons in one project. § 420.0003(3)(e)(8), Fla. Stat. (1991).

In accordance with these goals, the Florida legislature has enacted statutes providing for non-profit housing development corporations, § 420.101, Fla. Stat. (1991), a housing predevelopment trust fund to provide loans and grants to non-profit organizations for farmworker housing, § 420.307, Fla. Stat. (1991), an elderly homeowner rehabilitation program to make loans to low-income elderly homeowners, § 420.34, Fla. Stat. (1991), neighborhood reinvestment corporations to create partnerships between the private sector and government to rehabilitate declining residential neighborhoods, § 420.424, Fla. Stat. (1991), a state housing finance agency to encourage the investment of private capital in residential housing, § 420.502, Fla. Stat. (1991), an affordable housing trust fund to provide loans to low-income persons to build or rehabilitate housing, § 420.604, Fla. Stat. (1991), local coalitions for the home-

less in conjunction with private groups and organizations to provide temporary shelter for the homeless, § 420.623, Fla. Stat. (1991), pockets-of-poverty programs for farmworker housing in Belle Glade and Immokalee, § 420.803, Fla. Stat. (1991); § 420.812, Fla. Stat. (1991), and a program to maintain housing for the elderly by providing financial assistance to non-profit organizations that operate housing communities. § 420.903, Fla. Stat. (1991).

In the face of this huge variety of federal and state housing subsidies and public/private partnerships, determining under a definition of "public" as "publicly subsidized" which facilities should qualify as public housing facilities and which should not is impossible. Even more importantly, no ordinary citizen could be expected to know which facilities would qualify. Accordingly, the vagueness problems become insuperable if the phrase "public housing facilities" includes within its domain any or all "publicly subsidized" residences.

5. <u>"Public" as "low-income."</u>

A final possible definition of "public housing facility" is to restrict it to housing projects for low-income persons. The State proposed this definition in the summary of the argument of its initial brief in the second district, but it may or may not have abandoned this definition in this Court. Appellant's brief in this Court initially suggests that the statute applies to "official" "low-rent" housing, which might or might not be restricted to "lowincome" housing. Brief of Appellant at 13. Later, however, Appel-

lant cites several federal findings regarding "public and other federally assisted low-income housing." Id. at 14.

The first district and third district were equally vague on this score. The first district never even said what "public housing facility" meant and held only that everybody knew what it meant. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Given the obvious problems with the statute, this analysis was decidedly unhelpful.

The third district's opinion was only marginally clearer. It initially referred to the defendant's argument that the statute was vague because "'facility' could include . . [facilities other than] government subsidized housing for low income residents." <u>Hernandez</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1221. This reference to the defendant's argument might or might not have indicated that the third district was restricting the statute's scope to low income housing. Later, however, the court defined "public housing" as "government subsidized housing for individuals or families with varied needs." <u>Id.</u> This definition would include middle income persons such as state governors in their state-provided homes, students in dormitories, military personnel in barracks, or inmates in prisons.

Thus, Appellant in its brief to the second district said that "public housing facility" referred to "low income" housing. Appellant's brief in this Court now seems to have disclaimed that idea, except that it confusingly refers to low income persons later in its brief. The first district did not define the statutory

language at all. The third district's opinion, like the attorney general's opinion, is at odds with itself on this score. Appellees would like to know: Does or does not the phrase "public housing facility" refer only to places with low income residents? The complete inability of the first district, the third district, and the attorney general to answer this question clearly is itself dispositive evidence that the statute is vague. The assistance of the legislature is necessary to clarify its intent in this regard.

If the State is now defining "public" as "low-income," other problems arise. First, section 893.13(1)(i) refers to "housing facility" rather than "housing project." While these two phrases are related and the legislature might even have thought they had the same meaning, "housing facility" does not have the same connotation of indigence that "housing project" might have.

Second, defining "public" to mean "low-income" or "government subsidized" is inconsistent with the meaning of "public" in other parts of section 893.13(1)(i). The users of "public" universities or "public" parks are usually not low-income persons in need of government assistance. If section 893.13(1)(i) is to be interpreted coherently, then the three instances of the word "public" in that section should have approximately the same meaning. The State's definition, however, would give these three instances substantially different meanings.

Third, defining "public" to mean "low-income" would lead to more vagueness because the concept of "low-income" is not susceptible to clear definition. If "low-income" means "subject to income

requirements," undersigned counsel's own house in a middle class suburb would qualify, because it was purchased through a statefunded bond program which has income requirements for first-time home-buyers. Alternatively, "low-income" might be defined consistently with section 421.03(10), which states that "'[p]ersons of low income' shall mean persons or families who lack the amount of income which is necessary, as determined by the authority undertaking the housing project, to enable them, without financial assistance, to live in decent, safe and sanitary dwellings, without overcrowding." This definition makes the meaning of the statute depend on what the housing authority thinks. Most people have no way of knowing and could only speculate what a housing authority The vagueness doctrine forbids forcing people to might think. speculate on the meaning of a statute. Adding a "low-income" requirement makes the statute more vague rather than less.

Fourth, interpreting the statute to provide additional penalties for poor people who possess narcotics in their home raises severe equal protection problems which will be discussed in Issue II.

Fifth, by adding the vague concept of "low-income" or "government subsidized" to the statute where it did not previously exist, the State in effect is writing its own statute and asking this Court to act as a legislature by adopting the State's interpretation of the vague language. This Court should not intrude on the legislative domain by rewriting the statute, because this Court can have no confidence that it is acting correctly, absent a clearer indication of the legislative purpose. This Court does not have

the competence or authority to insert and define "low-income" or "government subsidized" in a narcotics statute, without clear direction from the legislature.

The Florida Constitution requires a certain precision defined by the legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary. This constitutional mandate obtains for two reasons. First, if legislative intent is not apparent from the statutory language, judicial reconstruction of vague or overbroad statutes could frustrate the true legislative intent. Second, in some circumstances, doubts about judicial competence to authoritatively construe legislation are warranted. Often a court has neither the legislative fact-finding machinery nor experience with the particular statutory subject matter to enable it to authoritatively construe a state (sic). The judicial body might question with justification whether its interpretation is workable or whether it is consistent with legislative policy which is, as yet undetermined.

Brown v. State, 358 So. 2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1978) (citations omitted).

Sixth, and most importantly, interpreting "public" as "lowincome" does not solve the vagueness problems already mentioned. The statute could still mean either "publicly available" or "publicly supported." It could still apply to a large variety of government-owned facilities, such as prisons, alien detention camps, workcamps, migrant housing, sleeping shelters for the homeless, halfway houses for alcoholics, mental institutions, nursing or retirement homes, and residential institutions or schools for the deaf, blind, and other handicapped persons. Extending the definition to publicly-subsidized facilities would still make it impossible to determine which facilities were sufficiently subsidized to gualify for protection under the statute.

In short, restricting the statute's scope to low-income housing does not alleviate any of its vagueness. For these reasons, section 893.13(1)(i) is unconstitutionally vague.

C. Not requiring a mens rea violates substantive due process.

Section 893(1)(i) does not require proof that defendants know they are near a public housing facility. Proof of this mental element is unnecessary for violations of the statute forbidding narcotics violations within one thousand feet of a school. <u>State v.</u> <u>Burch</u>, 545 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), <u>affirmed and lower court</u> <u>opinion adopted in pertinent part</u>, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990). The schoolyard statute is different from the public housing statute, however, because narcotics users near schools can look around to determine whether a school is nearby. The fact that a building is a school is obvious. By contrast, narcotics users near a public housing facility can look around and not know it is there. These places often do not have signs and can look like every other building in the area.

For this reason, <u>Hernandez</u> was decidedly disingenuous when it claimed that, to avoid additional penalty, narcotics users "need only refrain from illegal drug activity in the vicinity of public housing." 18 Fla. L. Weekly at D1221. This claim incorrectly assumed that users can easily determine whether a particular place is a public housing facility. It also overlooked the prevalence of police stings in these cases in which the police determine the location of the narcotics purchase.

Appellant recognizes that this Court has consistently allowed the legislature to dispense with a <u>mens rea</u> element. See, e.q., <u>State v. Medlin</u>, 273 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1973). These decisions, however, are for crimes like felony murder, in which the intent may fairly be said to transfer from the felony to the homicide, or like capital sexual battery or DUI manslaughter, in which the perpetrator may take steps or precautions to avoid the increased penalty. For example, in Medlin, the defendant could have taken steps to learn that the capsule in his possession that he delivered was a barbiturate. The present cases are different. It is fundamentally unfair and a violation of substantive due process when defendants not only do not know that their conduct is subject to an increased penalty but cannot know it. Accordingly, this Court should determine that the statute is unconstitutional.

D. <u>Appellees have standing to challenge the statute's</u> vagueness.

The State argues that persons challenging a statute for vagueness can normally claim only that it is vague as applied to their conduct and cannot assert that it is vague with respect to other persons' conduct. "Because respondents made no claim that their conduct was not covered by section 893.13(1)(i), their contention that the statute covered too many possibilities should not have been considered by either the trial court or the Second District." Brief of Appellant at 16. According to the State, because Appellees' conduct falls within the statute's hard core, they are disentitled to argue that the statute's outer bounds can be vaguely

applied to other persons in other situations. This argument is incorrect in several respects.

First, contrary to the State's claims, Appellees Bowles and Porter did argue "that their conduct was not covered by section 893.13(1)(i)." They filed a motion to dismiss because the Kenneth Court apartments were a privately owned facility whose tenants received federal rent assistance. They argued logically that a private housing facility could not be a public housing facility. Judge Mitcham denied the motion to dismiss, but he said he "would be at a decided advantage if under this statute public housing had been defined." (pages 26-36 of the Bowles/Porter record) In light of the judge's comments that the legislature had not defined the phrase "public housing," Appellees Bowles and Porter patently have standing to challenge the statute's vagueness and lack of definition.

Because Bowles and Porter have standing, any issue" that the other Appellees do not have standing is moot. If this Court rules that the statute is unconstitutional with respect to Bowles and Porter, then it can hardly rule that the statute is constitutional for everybody else. This result would be wholly anomalous, because the other Appellees could then be convicted for an unconstitutional crime.

Second, Appellees have argued that the statute is vague not only because it does not provide notice of what it forbids but also because it does not incorporate adequate guidelines to prevent arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. If the statute had

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